**RECEIVED** 06-29-2020 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2018AP000731-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KEVIN L. NASH.

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals Affirming a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Both Entered in Waukesha County Circuit Court, Judge Ralph M. Ramirez, Presiding

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

JEFREN E. OLSEN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1012235

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8387 olsenj@opd.wi.gov

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

When accepting a guilty plea under Alford v. North Carolina, 400 U.S. 25 (1970), a circuit court may find there is a factual basis for the plea only if there is "strong proof of guilt." May a court find strong proof of guilt based only on the information contained in the criminal complaint, as happened in this case, or must the court hear additional evidence before it can make that finding?

The circuit court held there was a sufficient factual basis. (89:10-11; 99:25-26; App. 128-29, 157-58).

The court of appeals affirmed the circuit court's conclusion. (Slip op. ¶¶21-27; App. 109-12).

## POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND **PUBLICATION**

Because this case addresses a novel issue addressing how circuit courts must handle Alford pleas, both oral argument and publication are appropriate.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

In October 2015, eight-year-old C.L.W. told a teacher that her brother, Kevin Nash, had sexually

Filed 06-29-2020

assaulted her "a few years prior." (1:4; App. 114). Police initiated an investigation, spoke with C.L.W.'s mother, and learned that two of Nash's sisters, C.L.W. and A.T.N., alleged Nash sexually assaulted them at the family's home in Pewaukee between November 2011 and November 2012. (Id.). During this time period, Nash, whose date of birth is November 26, 1997, was approximately 13 to 14 years old. (1:3; App. 113). A.T.N. was 8 to 9 years old, and C.L.W. was 4 to 5 years old. (1:3; App. 113). A third sister, M.K.N., also lived in the home during 2011-2012 and would have been 11 to 12 years old. (1:4; App. 114).

According to the complaint, all three sisters were interviewed shortly after C.L.W.'s initial report. (1:4; App. 114). C.L.W. stated that Nash forced her mouth to have contact with his penis in the basement of the family's home in Pewaukee. (Id.). A.T.N. reported that Nash had sexual intercourse with her in his room on multiple occasions and that he attempted to put his penis in her mouth on one occasion. (1:4-5; App. 114-15). M.K.N.'s interview is not fully described in the complaint; however, the complaint says that A.T.N. and M.K.N. described "acts ofsexual intercourse" that occurred

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This brief cites the initial complaint filed February 3, 2016. (1:3-5; App. 113-15). The state filed an amended complaint on March 3, 2016, which removed the mandatory minimum sentence allegation that appeared in the original complaint. (1:3-4; 8:1; App. 113-14, 116). There appears to be no difference between the facts alleged in the complaint and the amended complaint.

Milwaukee and that A.T.N. also reported that Nash attempted to sexually assault her at her grandmother's home in Georgia. (1:5; App. 115). The complaint indicates that the state would present the acts reported by A.T.N. and M.K.N. and that occurred outside of Waukesha County as "prior bad acts."  $(1:5; App. 115).^2$ 

Based on these allegations the state charged Nash, who was then age 18, with first degree sexual assault of a child under age 12 related to C.L.W. and repeated sexual assault of a child related to A.T.N. (1:3; 8:1; 9; App. 113, 116).

Following competency proceedings (6; 7; 95), Nash appeared for a plea hearing. (89; App. 119-36). Defense counsel explained to the court that Nash would plead no-contest to an amended information charging one count of second degree sexual assault of C.L.W. (32; 89:3; App. 121). Defense counsel further explained the nature of the plea:

> I reviewed a no-contest plea with my client. The basis for that will be that he is not going to contest that the State could present witnesses or other evidence that if believed by a jury would be sufficient to convict my client of the amended charge in the complaint.

> My client is not saying that he committed the offense outright and in a way it could be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The circuit court subsequently granted the state's motion to introduce the sisters' allegations of sexual contact occurring in Milwaukee and Georgia. (14; 91:16-18).

construed as an *Alford* plea, but that is the basis of the no-contest plea and we would like to resolve the case in that matter and the State has no objection.

(89:3; App. 121).

The court, however, did not accept Nash's plea due to Nash's uncertainty about entering a plea and his refusal to agree that the state had enough evidence to prove the charge to which he was pleading. (89:4-5, 8-9, 12, 14-16; App. 122-23, 126-27, 130, 132-33).

Specifically, Nash hesitated when the court asked whether he understood the nature of the plea agreement; he stated: "Yes, sir. Yes[]" only after being instructed by trial counsel to answer affirmatively. (89:4-5; App. 122-23). Nash also hesitated and then conferred with his attorney before agreeing that he was not being forced to give up his trial rights to enter a plea. (89:8-9; App. 126-27).

After the court asked Nash questions typical to a plea colloquy (for instance, about his understanding of the penalties and the plea agreement; his level of comprehension; the rights he was waiving (89:4-9; App. 122-27), the following exchange took place:

> THE COURT: All right. Do you acknowledge that State has enough evidence to prove this charge?

[Mr. Nash]: No.

THE COURT: Do you believe you are not guilty of these charges?

[Mr. Nash]: Yes, I do.

[Defense Counsel]: That was in essence the nocontest Alford part.

(89:12; App. 130).

The court had defense counsel summarize the nature of his conversations with Nash about the plea process. (89:12-13; App. 130-31). Defense counsel told the court that he had explained to Nash what the prosecutor had just stated: if the case went to trial, the state would call as witnesses "the three sisters," who "if they testified as to what was in the discovery materials, were going to say that he had sexual contact with them and/or sexual intercourse," and that the state would also perhaps call staff of the child advocacy center where interviews with the victims had occurred. (89:13; App. 131).

The court then asked Nash again if he believed the state had enough evidence to convict him. (89:14; App. 132). Nash again stated that he did not believe there was enough evidence to convict him, adding: "I'm not saying I did it at all. I'm not going to say I did something that I didn't do, sir, at all." (89:14; App. 134). Nash later reiterated: "Sir, I'm telling you right now I never did none of this and I don't want to keep going through it." (89:16; App. 134).

The court then said that "[i]f Mr. Nash wishes to enter a plea of no-contest of an Alford type taking advantage of the State's offer but indicating that he is not guilty of the offense, I don't have a clear indication from Mr. Nash that that's exactly what he wants to do and there is a great deal of difficulty here." (89:16; App. 134). The court left the trial date on its calendar and informed the parties it would recall the case if needed. (89:17; App. 135).

The next day the parties were back in court, and this time Nash entered a plea to the amended charge of second degree sexual assault of a child. (90:8; App. 114). Before accepting Nash's plea, the court inquired of his understanding of an *Alford* plea. (90:10-11; App. 146-47). Specifically, the court asked:

> Do you understand what it is when we say an Alford plea? It's a person's name but it's a plea that means I'm going to plead guilty or nocontest, I'm going to accept responsibility for the charge, I'm not necessarily admitting that those facts occurred but I understand that the State has got enough evidence where I could be found guilty at trial? Is that what is going on here?

Nash responded: "Yes, sir." (90:11; App. 147).

court also asked Nash whether he understood the charge to which he was pleading. (90:6; App. 142). The court asked Nash if his attorney reviewed "the elements of the offense that the State would have to prove before you could be found guilty?" (Id.). Nash responded: "Yes, sir." (Id.). The

plea questionnaire indicates Nash was pleading to second degree sexual assault of a child in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2) and the elements of that offense are attached to the form. (31:1, 3).

As to the factual basis requirement, at the originally scheduled plea hearing the court had asked the state for "a factual basis, an offer of proof." (89:10; App. 128). In response the prosecutor said:

> .... Last fall I believe the defendant's three sisters, who are here in court, made outcries to the Village of Pewaukee Police Department, that between the dates roughly of November 1st, 2011, and November 1st, 2012, when the four of them and their mother and stepfather lived ... in the Village of Pewaukee, that the defendant had engaged in sexual intercourse with two of the three sisters.

> All three sisters were under the age of sixteen at the time. In fact, even though we have just alleged one act of sexual assault, sexual intercourse of a child under the age of sixteen, and that is C[.L.W.], there were multiple acts of sexual intercourse, penis to vagina, at that address all in Waukesha County, State of Wisconsin, sir.

(89:10-11; App. 128-29). The court confirmed with the state at the second plea hearing that it intended to rely on its prior offer of proof as well as the complaint and amended complaint in regard to factual basis. (90:9-10; App. 145-46). The court indicated: "I will find a sufficient factual basis based on the contents of the complaint and the offer of proof." (90:15-16;

App. 151-52). After accepting Nash's plea and finding Nash guilty, the court ordered a presentence investigation and scheduled a sentencing hearing. (90:16-18; App. 152-54).

At sentencing the circuit court imposed and stayed an eight-year prison sentence comprised of three years of initial confinement followed by five years of extended supervision and then placed Nash on probation for five years with various conditions, including jail time. (92:27-28).<sup>3</sup>

Following sentencing, Nash filed a motion for postconviction relief seeking plea withdrawal. (69:1). Nash asserted that the circuit court did not find strong proof of guilt as required before accepting an Alford plea and that the record does not contain strong evidence of guilt of the second degree sexual assault of a child charge. (69:5-9). The circuit court denied the motion after a hearing, explaining that it believed the state had set forth strong proof of guilt

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Nash's probation was subsequently revoked and he began serving the stayed sentence. (63:1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Nash raised an alternative ground for plea withdrawal based on the incorrect use of the domestic abuse modifier on the charge to which he pled. (69:9-14). At the postconviction hearing the circuit court agreed the modifier should not have been attached to that count, but held that the remedy for the error was to strike the modifier from the judgment of conviction rather than allow plea withdrawal. (80:1; 81:1; 99:10-11, 17, 24, 26; App. 156, 158). Nash did not renew this claim on appeal so that issue is not before this court.

on the record of the second degree sexual assault of a child charge to which Nash pled:

.... There is a strong proof of guilt set out on the record in this Court's estimation. I did not look just at the complaint or say, hey, you guys agree that there is enough in the complaint[?] I said, give me a factual basis.

The record is abundantly clear that I took time. Efforts were made to give the knowledge that we had about Mr. Nash and his deficiencies to make sure that the plea was done in an appropriate basis. There wasn't any hurrying through anything here. Two days were taken. The Court asked and there was a recitation of the facts.

Again, we are looking at the nature of this offense and it was made clear on the record before I accepted the plea of what the allegations were, who was involved, and what was done.

We didn't just say, there was some sort of facts. There was something sexual going on or some sort of touching. It was stated on the record that there was sexual intercourse and the nature, the specific nature of the sexual intercourse. The people involved. The ages. The location. Using as well the information set out in the complaint.

In addition to that, I think that this record demonstrates that there was strong proof of actual guilt. That this Court did consider all the things that were brought to its attention at the time of the plea colloquy....

(99:25-26; App. 157-58).

Nash appealed. The court of appeals affirmed decision. curiamState Nash, in per υ. No. 2018AP000731-CR (WI App May 22019) (unpublished) (App. 101-12). The court of appeals that the criminal complaint representations of the prosecutor described strong proof of guilt on each of the two elements of the offense—sexual intercourse and age of the victim. (Slip op. ¶21; App. 109). The court also concluded that the other-acts evidence that had been deemed admissible strengthened the state's case. (Id.). Finally, it rejected Nash's arguments that reliance on the complaint and the prosecutor's "offer of proof" was not sufficiently detailed and specific enough to show strong proof of guilt. (Slip op. ¶¶24-27; App. 111-12).

Nash petitioned for review by this court under Rule 809.62, which this court granted.

#### **ARGUMENT**

To determine whether there is the "strong proof of guilt" necessary to establish a factual basis for a guilty plea under *Alford* v. North Carolina, a circuit court may not rely solely on information in the criminal complaint, as happened in Nash's case, but must hear witness testimony or oral statements or review witness affidavits or other documentary evidence.

#### Α. Summary of Argument; Standard of Review.

Wisconsin circuit courts have the discretion to accept the kind of plea recognized in North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970), which involves a defendant pleading guilty while simultaneously protesting his or her innocence. State v. Garcia, 192 Wis. 2d 845, 856, 532 N.W.2d 111 (1995); State v. Johnson, 105 Wis. 2d 657, 661-63, 314 N.W.2d 897 (Ct. App. 1981). This case presents the question of what circuit courts must do to establish and assess the unique factual basis required for an *Alford* plea— "strong proof of guilt." Garcia, 192 Wis. 2d at 857-58; Johnson, 105 Wis. 2d at 663. Cf. Alford, 400 U.S. at 37-38 (referring to "strong evidence of actual guilty," a "strong case," and a "strong factual basis for the plea").

For the reasons set forth below, this court should exercise its superintending authority under Article VII, Section 3(1),of the Wisconsin Constitution, to require that determining whether an Alford plea is supported by "strong proof of guilt" requires assessment by the circuit court of live testimony or recorded oral statements of relevant witnesses or other documentary evidence of the evidence the state would introduce at a trial. This method of establishing strong proof of guilt is necessary to assure that an *Alford* plea is knowing, voluntary, and intelligent and. therefore, constitutionally valid. And it is a method that was used in prior Wisconsin cases and was apparently used in Alford itself. Because the method used to establish the factual basis for Kevin Nash's Alford plea did not employ any of these types of evidence but consisted of a restatement of the allegations in the criminal complaint, there was no showing of strong proof of guilt and Nash should be allowed to withdraw his plea.

A defendant who seeks to withdraw a guilty plea after being sentenced must prove by clear and convincing evidence that refusing to allow plea withdrawal would result in a manifest injustice. State v. Finley, 2016 WI 63, ¶58, 370 Wis. 2d 402, 882 N.W.2d 761. One type of manifest injustice is the failure of the trial court to establish a sufficient factual basis that the defendant committed the offense to which he or she pleads. State v. Smith, 202 Wis. 2d 21, 25, 549 N.W.2d 232 (1996). When the defendant is entering an Alford plea, establishing the

factual basis requires the evidence show strong proof of guilt that the defendant committed the crime to which the defendant pleads. Alford, 400 U.S. at 37-38 (1970); Garcia, 192 Wis. 2d at 857-58.

The determination of whether there is a sufficient factual basis for a plea is a matter within the circuit court's discretion and will not be overturned unless it is clearly erroneous. Smith, 202 Wis. 2d at 25. At the same time, however, the issue for review in this case—whether a circuit court must follow specific procedures or use particular methods to establish strong proof of guilt for an Alford plea—involves a matter for this court's superintending authority under Article Section 3(1), of the Wisconsin Constitution. That is a question this court alone decides.

#### В. "A system of pleas, not trials" and the benefits and dangers of such a system.

About 97% percent of federal convictions are the result of guilty pleas. See Mark Motivans, U.S. Dept. of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics, Federal Justice Statistics 2015-16 (NCJ251770, Jan. 2019) at 9 & Table 6: Brian Johnson, Plea-Trial Differences in Federal Punishment: Research and Policy Implications, 31 Fed. Sent'g Rptr. 256, 257, Figure 1 (2019). There is variation of the plea rate across states, but in the vast majority of states for which there is data over 90% of criminal cases are resolved with a plea. See National Center for State

Courts, Court Statistics Project—Criminal, 2018 General Jurisdiction Criminal Jury Trials and Rates and Bench Trial and Rates.<sup>5</sup> See also Missouri v. Frye, 566 U.S. 134, 143 (2012) (recognizing pleas account for nearly 95% of all criminal convictions). This shows the reality that plea bargains, whether concessions on charges or on sentencing become so central to the consequences, have administration of the criminal justice system that it is "for the most part a system of pleas, not a system of trials...." Lafler v. Cooper, 566 U.S. 156, 170 (2012).

But "[t]o note the prevalence of plea bargaining is not to criticize it." Frye, 566 U.S. at 144. Since the earliest cases accepting that plea bargaining is "inherent in the criminal law and its administration" and holding it is "not constitutionally forbidden," Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 751-52 (1970), courts and commentators have recognized benefits—the "mutuality of advantage"—of the practice:

> For a defendant who sees slight possibility of acquittal, the advantages of pleading guilty and limiting the probable penalty are obvious—his exposure is reduced, the correctional processes can begin immediately, and the practical burdens of a trial are eliminated. For the State there are also advantages—the more promptly imposed

These tables are in a database available at http://popup.ncsc.org/CSP/CSP Intro.aspx (under tab "Criminal").

punishment after an admission of guilt may effectively attain objectives  $_{
m the}$ punishment; and with the avoidance of trial, scarce judicial and prosecutorial resources are conserved for those cases in which there is a substantial issue of the defendant's guilt or in which there is substantial doubt that the State can sustain its burden of proof.

Id. at 752. Cf. Frye, 566 U.S. at 144 ("[t]he potential to conserve valuable prosecutorial resources and for defendants to admit their crimes and receive more favorable terms at sentencing means that a plea agreement can benefit both parties.").

It is generally recognized that, due to increases in caseloads, criminal laws, and the complexity in criminal trials, the criminal justice system would seize up without guilty pleas and plea bargaining due to a lack of resources to have a trial in every case, or even in most cases. Lucian Dervan, Bargained Justice: Plea Bargaining's Innocence Problem and the Brady Safety-Valve, 2012 Utah L. Rev. 51, 60, 81, 566 U.S. at 186 (Scalia, J., dissenting) ("...we accept plea bargaining because many believe that without it our long and expensive process of criminal trial could not sustain the burden imposed on it, and our system of criminal justice would grind to a halt."). Thus, guilty pleas assure not only that the criminal justice continues to function, but that it does so more efficiently by allowing allocation of resources away from trials of clear-cut cases. Efficiency in turn assures quicker resolution of more cases, which brings quicker resolution for both the defendant and

victim, allowing for both swifter imposition of punishment and earlier entry into rehabilitative programs.

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