Filed 08-10-2020

Page 1 of 41

RECEIVED 08-10-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2018AP731-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KEVIN L. NASH,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, BOTH ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE RALPH M. RAMIREZ, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN W. KELLIS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083400

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

By granting Nash's petition for review, this Court has signaled that it will decide whether to exercise its superintending authority to establish a new procedure governing the acceptance of *Alford* pleas. At its core, however, this appeal boils down to whether Nash carried his burden to prove that a manifest injustice would result if he were not permitted to withdraw his *Alford* plea. He failed to do so, and this should be apparent because the only way Nash can now prevail is by first convincing this Court to impose upon circuit courts an ambiguous new rule employed by no jurisdiction in the country and then showing how the new rule was not followed in his case.

The State will first explain how the information contained in the record was sufficient for the circuit court to accept Nash's *Alford* plea. Thereafter, the State will describe how Nash's proposed rule is (1) not used by any jurisdiction that accepts *Alford* pleas, (2) divorced from the rationale behind the rule requiring circuit courts to establish a factual basis for a defendant's plea, (3) unsupported by Wisconsin and Supreme Court authority, (4) detrimental both to the administration of justice and to the interests of defendants in Nash's position who wish to enter an *Alford* plea, and (5) unnecessary, as criminal defendants already have many avenues to compel the State to present evidence of their guilt.

In the end, the State will respectfully request that this Court affirm the court of appeals' opinion and reject Nash's request to enact an ambiguous, unnecessary rule that will undoubtedly do more harm than good.

I. Nash failed to carry his burden to prove that a manifest injustice would result if he were not permitted to withdraw his *Alford* plea.

A. Foundational principles

1. The history of *Alford* pleas

A half-century ago, Henry Alford faced a capital murder charge with little evidence supporting his innocence claim. *Alford*, 400 U.S. at 26–27. Witnesses provided statements tending to implicate Alford in the murder. *Id.* at 27. Confronted with this strong inculpatory evidence yet still maintaining his innocence, Alford pleaded guilty to a reduced murder charge to spare his own life. *Id.* at 27–29.

Concluding that Alford's plea was constitutionally valid, the Supreme Court recognized, "[W]hile most pleas of guilty consist of both a waiver of trial and an express admission of guilt, the latter element is not a constitutional requisite to the imposition of criminal penalty." *Id.* at 37. The Court explicitly held, "An individual accused of crime may voluntarily, knowingly, and understandingly consent to the imposition of a prison sentence even if he is unwilling or unable to admit his participation in the acts constituting the crime." *Id.*

Acceptance of what has become known as an *Alford* plea is not automatic. There is an important safeguard built into its practice: before the court may accept such a plea, the trial court record must contain "strong evidence of actual guilt," also characterized by the Supreme Court as a "strong factual basis." *Id.* at 37–38. Particularly relevant to Nash's claim, the Supreme Court did not prescribe a particular method to meet this threshold, nor did it mandate that any type of witness testimony be presented at Alford's own plea hearing. *See id.* at 28, 32–33, 38.

Since the Supreme Court's decision, *Alford* pleas have gained acceptance in Wisconsin, first by the court of appeals in *State v. Johnson*, 105 Wis. 2d 657, 314 N.W.2d 897 (Ct. App. 1981), and later by this Court in *State v. Garcia*, 192 Wis. 2d 845, 532 N.W.2d 111 (1995). Like the Supreme Court, however, neither this Court in *Garcia* nor the court of appeals in *Johnson* mandated a specific method to establish the strong factual basis necessary before a circuit court may accept an *Alford* plea. Nor have any of the other state courts that have adopted the *Alford* procedure. 2. Before accepting an *Alford* plea, the circuit court must be satisfied that strong proof of guilt exists as to each element of the crime charged.

Before accepting any guilty, no-contest, or *Alford* plea, circuit courts are instructed to satisfy certain requirements. Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1).⁶ Among those duties, a circuit court is directed to "[m]ake such inquiry as satisfies it that the defendant in fact committed the crime charged." Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(b). This requirement protects "a defendant who is in the position of pleading voluntarily with an understanding of the nature of the charge but without realizing that his conduct does not actually fall within the charge." *State v. Thomas*, 2000 WI 13, ¶ 14, 232 Wis. 2d 714, 605 N.W.2d 836 (quoting *White v. State*, 85 Wis. 2d 485, 491, 271 N.W.2d 97 (1978)).

As introduced above, in the *Alford* context, the judge must determine whether "the evidence the state would offer at trial is strong proof of guilt." *Johnson*, 105 Wis. 2d at 663; *see also Alford*, 400 U.S. at 37 (no constitutional error where "the record before the judge contains strong evidence of actual guilt"). Strong proof is required "as to each element of the crime" charged. *Smith*, 202 Wis. 2d at 28. But the proof required is not equivalent to proof beyond a reasonable doubt; rather, the factual basis must be sufficient "to substantially negate [the] defendant's [protestations] of innocence." *State ex rel. Warren v. Schwarz*, 219 Wis. 2d 615, 645, 579 N.W.2d 698 (1998) (quoting *Johnson*, 105 Wis. 2d at 664).

⁶ Although the statute does not mention *Alford* pleas, its procedural safeguards apply nonetheless. *State v. Smith*, 202 Wis. 2d 21, 25–26, 549 N.W.2d 232 (1996).

3. To withdraw his plea after he had been sentenced, Nash was required to establish a manifest injustice.

Nash was entitled to withdraw his *Alford* plea after sentencing only if he proved by clear and convincing evidence that a manifest injustice would otherwise result. *See Johnson*, 105 Wis. 2d at 666. This heavy burden "reflects the State's interest in the finality of convictions, and reflects the fact that the presumption of innocence no longer exists." *State v. Cross*, 2010 WI 70, ¶ 42, 326 Wis. 2d 492, 786 N.W.2d 64.

A court's failure to establish a sufficient factual basis "is one type of manifest injustice that justifies plea withdrawal." State v. Scott, 2017 WI App 40, ¶ 30, 376 Wis. 2d 430, 899 N.W.2d 728; accord State v. Higgs, 230 Wis. 2d 1, 10, 601 N.W.2d 653 (Ct. App. 1999). When applying the manifest injustice test, the reviewing court is not limited to the plea record but can consider the "totality of the circumstances," the defense including sentencing record. counsel's statements. and other portions of the record. State v. Cain, 2012 WI 68, ¶ 31, 342 Wis. 2d 1, 816 N.W.2d 177; Scott, 376 Wis. 2d 430, ¶ 30.

B. Nash established no manifest injustice because his *Alford* plea was supported by a strong factual basis.

During his plea hearings, Nash insisted that he understood the nature of the charged crime and what the State would need to prove to support a guilty verdict. (R. 89:6.) These admissions are not surprising. After all, the amended sexual assault crime charged was not complicated; the State needed to prove only that (1) Nash had sexual intercourse or contact with a person, and (2) that person was under the age of 16 years at the time Nash had sexual intercourse or contact with her. (*See* R. 31:3.)

In *Garcia*, this Court noted that a defendant charged with sexually assaulting children "may wish to plead guilty vet publicly maintain his innocence to avoid ridicule or embarrassment." 192 Wis. 2d at 857. For such a defendant, an *Alford* plea may be attractive. Here, Nash may not have wanted to admit the heinous acts he committed against his young sisters. But the criminal complaint and amended criminal complaint informed the circuit court of detailed victim accounts of how Nash forced his penis into C.L.W.'s mouth as she was lying on a basement couch, repeatedly pinned A.T.N. down on the same couch while painfully putting his "private part" against her "private part," and tried to pry A.T.N.'s mouth open to insert his penis. (R. 8:2.) His *Alford* plea allowed him to both acknowledge the strength of the case against him and continue his protestations of innocence.

In anticipation of that plea, Nash's attorney spent nearly four hours with him in the weeks leading up to the plea hearing to ensure he understood the plea procedure, the criminal elements, and other information. (R. 90:14–15.) Nash repeatedly admitted, in writing and verbally during both plea hearings, that he understood these elements and what the State would need to prove if his case proceeded to trial. (R. 31:3; 89:6, 11, 12; 90:6.) With his firm understanding of the crime's two elements, Nash could easily grasp how the above-referenced facts presented in his charging documents would prove that he committed the crime if he went to trial.

If the facts alleged in the complaint and amended complaint were inadequate to gauge the strength of the State's case, however, there was damning other-acts evidence the court had previously decided to admit at Nash's impending jury trial. (R. 91:2–9, 18.) During the pretrial hearing on the State's other-acts motion, the circuit court listened to the prosecutor describe the victims' forensic interviews, the facts surrounding the charges brought in the present case, the details of the uncharged sexual assaults that Nash committed in Milwaukee and Georgia, and an announcement of which witnesses would testify to those facts. (R. 91:2–9.) The court also received a video recording and recording transcript, both revealing that Nash had confessed to police that he once kissed one of his sister's nipples before his mother intervened. (R. 30; 35.)

If even that information fell short of establishing a requisite strong factual basis, the court heard from Nash's trial counsel and the prosecutor at Nash's first plea hearing. (R. 89:10–11, 13.) Nash's attorney explained that the State would call, among other witnesses, Nash's three sisters who "were going to say that [Nash] had sexual contact with them and/or sexual intercourse." (R. 89:13.) During that same hearing, the circuit court heard the prosecutor provide a summary explaining how Nash engaged in "multiple acts of sexual intercourse, penis to vagina," with his young sisters, all of whom were under the age of 16 at the time. (R. 89:10–11.)

If even that information were not enough, before formally accepting Nash's plea, the court heard from Nash himself who acknowledged four times during his continued plea hearing that the State could present the evidence summarized above to a jury to convict him. (R. 90:3, 5, 11.) Even if he had not admitted that the State's evidence was sufficient, it is important to remember that the factual basis supporting Nash's plea did not need to constitute proof beyond a reasonable doubt; it just had to be sufficient to "substantially negate" Nash's protestations of innocence. *See Schwarz*, 219 Wis. 2d at 645.

Here, Nash's declarations of innocence were weak, at best. When Nash contested the factual basis at his first plea hearing, he launched into a rambling speech about hearsay evidence and being on suicide watch, a prediction that he would "lose in [that] county right here because it's always about the DA and the jury," a comment about how everyone was "looking at [him] the wrong way," and a claim that he "did none of this." (R. 89:14–16.) Simply put, other than a blanket denial that he committed the crime, Nash gave no reason for the court to question the supplied factual basis, e.g., a motive for the victims to lie, an alibi, or any exculpatory evidence.

Nash's plea hearing comments never undercut the State's case. But they did reveal his true objection to the factual basis, which had nothing to do with a failure to understand how the facts fit the crime: Nash evidently felt that, absent DNA evidence, he should not be convicted based on a victim's statement, or what he labeled "hearsay." (*See* R. 89:14–16.) It should probably go without saying that presenting his victims to testify at an evidentiary hearing, just so Nash and the circuit court could hear their same accounts already detailed in police reports, charging documents, and recordings, would not have pacified Nash's dispute with the State's evidence, because there would still be no DNA evidence.

In sum, the court of appeals correctly concluded that the information supplied to the circuit court "easily describe[d] 'strong evidence of guilt" for the offense to which Nash was pleading. *See Nash*, 2019 WL 1940698, ¶ 21. After reviewing the record and the strong factual basis accompanying Nash's plea, this Court, too, should hold that Nash failed to carry his burden to prove by clear and convincing evidence that his plea resulted in a manifest injustice.

II. This Court should decline Nash's invitation to impose an ambiguous, unnecessary rule that would unduly constrain circuit courts from accepting *Alford* pleas.

Nash proposes that this Court use its superintending authority to require circuit courts, before accepting an *Alford* plea, to determine the "strong proof" of the defendant's guilt on the basis of "live testimony or recorded oral statements of relevant witnesses or other documentary evidence of the evidence the state would introduce at a trial." (Nash's Br. 12.) He contends that only with such a record can a circuit court determine whether the defendant's plea is knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. (Nash's Br. 12.)

This Court should reject Nash's proposal. As the State will explain, Nash's rule is not only unfounded in the entire country, it also defies past Wisconsin precedent, is divorced from the protective purpose behind the factual basis requirement, and would only serve to discourage the acceptance of *Alford* pleas in an already overburdened legal system. The alleged necessity of Nash's rule is entirely undermined by the many practical alternatives already available to a circuit court to secure a sufficient factual basis. The available alternatives demonstrate that this Court need not exercise its superintending authority to force an unnecessarily burdensome rule on circuit courts.

In the end, Nash had to choose between a trial and accepting the State's plea offer. He regrets his decision after being sentenced. No proposed rule will change that.

A. Exercise of this Court's superintending authority

This Court maintains "superintending and administrative authority over all courts." Wis. Const. art. VII, § 3. And this power is "as broad and as flexible as necessary to insure the due administration of justice in the courts of this state." *Koschkee v. Evers*, 2018 WI 82, ¶ 8, 382 Wis. 2d 666, 913 N.W.2d 878 (quoting *In re Kading*, 70 Wis. 2d 508, 520, 235 N.W.2d 409 (1975)).

But this Court's supervisory authority is not to be employed lightly. *Id.* ¶ 12. "This court will not exercise its superintending power where there is another adequate remedy... or where the conduct of the trial court does not threaten seriously to impose a significant hardship upon a citizen." *Arneson v. Jezwinski*, 206 Wis. 2d 217, 226, 556 N.W.2d 721 (1996) (quoting *McEwen v. Pierce Cty.*, 90 Wis. 2d 256, 269–70, 279 N.W.2d 469 (1979)). Whether the Court chooses to exercise its supervisory authority in a given situation is a matter of judicial policy rather than one relating to the power of this Court. *Evers*, 382 Wis. 2d 666, ¶ 12.

B. Nash's proposed rule is radical: it has not been adopted in any jurisdiction; it is divorced from the protective rationale underlying the factual basis requirement; and it is inconsistent with Wisconsin case law.

That this Court's adoption of Nash's proposed rule would effect a sea change in our jurisprudence is an understatement. The radical nature of the proposal is evident for three reasons. First, it has not been adopted or even considered in any other jurisdiction. Second, it is divorced from the protective rationale that underlies the factual basis requirement for all guilty, no-contest, and *Alford* pleas, and provides no extra protection to defendants. Third, it is in direct conflict with prior published authority of the court of appeals.

As noted, no other jurisdiction has adopted or even considered a rule like the one Nash proposes. Nash acknowledges this fact and resorts instead to two law review articles from 1977 (whose analysis has never been judicially adopted after nearly half a century). (Nash's Br. 39–40.)

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